2002

Jau-Fei Chen, Chi wei Zhang, E. Lei Zhang, and E.
E. Zhang v. Jau-Hwa Stewart, E. Excel International,
Inc. and Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUES PRESENTED

A. The Trial Court's January 24, 2003 Ruling

The issues relating to the trial court's January 24, 2003 Ruling denying Hwan Lan Chen's Motion to Vacate and Set Aside the trial court's orders with respect to the Special Master's appointment, empowerment, and actions [R. 9238; 12770] are:

1. Whether the trial court's orders conferring non-judicial powers on a Rule 53 special master *pendente lite* and the actions of the Special Master pursuant to those powers were wholly beyond and in direct conflict with the judicial powers authorized by Rule 53?
2. Whether, under Rule 53, a special master can be empowered, *pendente lite*, to:
(1) serve as a corporate CEO; (2) participate as an active party litigant in the action in which he was appointed as special master, with the power to investigate, initiate, and prosecute claims; (3) pursue and obtain the preliminary injunctive relief that is the subject of this appeal; (4) negotiate and consummate a master settlement agreement that restructures a corporate enterprise, E. Excel International, Inc. ("E. Excel"), releases claims of that corporation, including claims against the plaintiff below and her husband, and settles

litigation beyond the case below; and (5) orchestrate a freeze-out merger against the defendant below with regard to the same corporation.

3. Whether the trial court's justification of its orders with respect to the empowerment and actions of the Special Master in its January 24, 2003 Ruling based on the doctrine of waiver is contrary to law and the record in that:

- a. The waiver doctrine cannot be used to shield the fundamental unlawfulness of a trial court's empowerment of a Rule 53 special master to exercise non-judicial powers *pendente lite*, including the power to act as an active party litigant, any more than the waiver doctrine could shield a trial court's own exercise of such blatantly non-judicial powers;
- b. The trial court's determination that there was a stipulation or agreement to the empowerment of the Rule 53 Special Master with non-judicial powers ten months before appellant Hwan Lan Chen was made a party to the case is categorically untrue and without support in the record; and
- c. Hwan Lan Chen never stipulated or agreed at any time to any of the trial court's orders pertaining to the Special Master and timely moved to have the orders vacated and set aside within ten days of the entry of the Preliminary Injunction against her?

4. Whether the trial court's justification of its orders with respect to the empowerment and actions of the Special Master in its January 24, 2003 Ruling based on the harmless error doctrine and the standing doctrine, including the trial court's claim that it

already had adjudicated against Hwan Lan Chen a claim by her to ownership of E. Excel, is contrary to law and the record in that:

- a. But for the Special Master's unlawful empowerment and actions, Hwan Lan Chen would not have been a party to the action below, would not have been the subject of a preliminary injunction below, and would not be the subject of a pending motion for contempt below that seeks her total default on her defense to claims that assert damages of approximately \$17 million; and
- b. No claim of any type (whether claim, counterclaim, cross claim or third-party claim) to which Hwan Lan Chen was a party and which involved her ownership of E. Excel, was ever made, pled or adjudicated in the action below?

The issues regarding the Special Master's empowerment and actions are questions of law that are reviewed for correctness. *Plumb v. State*, 809 P.2d 734, 741-43 (Utah 1990); *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994). The issues raised by the trial court's January 24, 2003 Ruling are questions of law that are reviewed for correctness. *Pena*, 869 P.2d at 936.

B. The Preliminary Injunction

The issues relating to the trial court's August 20, 2002 Preliminary Injunction findings and October 16, 2002 Order of Preliminary Injunction against appellant Hwan Lan Chen [R. 7141; 8578; 9238; 14276 at 4-17] are:

1. Whether the Preliminary Injunction against Hwan Lan Chen must be vacated and set aside on the ground that it was based solely on the third-party claims and motion of a Rule 53 special master unlawfully exercising the power of a party litigant in the case, beyond and contrary to the judicial powers that can be conferred under Rule 53?

2. Whether Hwan Lan Chen was fundamentally denied her right to due process under the United States and Utah Constitutions when the trial court granted the Preliminary Injunction against her based on 18 days of evidentiary hearings conducted before she was joined as a party in the case below?

3. Whether the Preliminary Injunction is facially invalid in scope in that it wrongfully enjoins Hwan Lan Chen from all competition with E. Excel and all competition in several entire industries worldwide during the pendency of the case, when Hwan Lan Chen is not and never has been a party to a non-compete agreement with E. Excel, and was only a director of E. Excel between September 1, 2000 and February 21, 2001?

4. Whether the evidence fails to establish a prima facie case on the key predicate findings against Hwan Lan Chen that she is a crook, conspirator, and corporate wrongdoer, which underlie the Preliminary Injunction, when there is no evidence that Hwan Lan Chen, a 76-year old, non-English speaking, Chinese widow who never testified in the action below, ever agreed to any wrongful agreement, or ever engaged in or had knowledge of any of the wrongful or criminal predicate acts?

The Special Master issue with regard to the Preliminary Injunction is a subset of the general issues presented above regarding the Special Master's unlawful empowerment and

actions, and is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. *Plumb*, 809 P.2d at 741-43. The due process issue is a question of law and is reviewed for correctness. *State v. Hubbard*, 2002 UT 45, ¶ 22, 48 P.3d 953, 962; *In re J.B.*, 2002 UT App. 268, ¶ 7, 53 P.3d 968, 970. The lawfulness of the scope of the Preliminary Injunction is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. *F.D.I.C. v. Faulkner*, 991 F.2d 262, 267 (5th Cir. 1993). Whether appellee failed to establish a prima facie case on the predicate findings of the Preliminary Injunction, as required, is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness. *Water & Energy Sys. Tech., Inc. v. Keil*, 1999 UT 16, ¶8, 974 P.2d 821, 822 (“To meet the requirements of subsection four [of Rule 65A(e)], an applicant [for a preliminary injunction] must, at the very least, make a prima facie showing that the elements of its underlying claim can be proved.”); *Handy v. Union P. R.R. Co.*, 841 P.2d 1210, 1215 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

CONTROLLING RULE

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 53 is of central importance to this appeal and is set out verbatim in Tab A of the accompanying Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, AND DISPOSITION BELOW

This case involves a Rule 53 special master who, by law, is a judicial officer limited to exercising judicial power to assist a court, but who, *pendente lite*, was empowered by the trial court to exercise the powers of the chief executive officer (“CEO”) of E. Excel, an active party litigant, and a master claims settler. In exercise of these blatantly non-judicial powers, the Special Master: (1) initiated and prosecuted claims against Hwan Lan Chen; (2)

sought and obtained the Preliminary Injunction against Hwan Lan Chen; (3) entered into a “Master Settlement Agreement” that settled litigation beyond this case, released the plaintiff and her allies from all of E. Excel’s claims, and divested E. Excel of over 90% of its business; (4) orchestrated a freeze-out merger that eliminated the defendant as an E. Excel shareholder for the benefit of the plaintiff and her allies; and (5) submitted admittedly “partisan” special master reports under Rule 53 that became part of the record and were used against Hwan Lan Chen. The Special Master continues to exercise his unlawful non-judicial powers, including his participation and direction in this appeal.

The corporate subject of this case is E. Excel, a multi-level marketer of herbal, dietary supplement, and personal care products. [R.14318 at 4 (¶ 1).] Historically, over 90% of E. Excel’s revenue came from sales in several Asian countries. [R. 14342, Ex. 280 at 4.] E. Excel’s distribution in these Asian countries historically consisted of sales to foreign distributors, called “Territorial Owners,” which, in turn, distributed E. Excel products to individual distributors on a multi-level marketing basis. [R. 14317 at 8 (¶ 10); 14318 at 4 (¶ 1).] E. Excel reported sales of over \$20 million to the Territorial Owners in the first eight months of 2000. [R. 14265 at 179-80; 14300 at 8.]

E. Excel is a closely-held family business of the Chen family, a traditional Chinese family. [R. 14230 at 12-14; 14317 at 5-6 (¶¶ 1, 5)]. As the trial court found:

[The Chen family is a] Chinese family that adheres to traditional deferring to decision making authority of the elder member of the family. . . . Part of the Chinese tradition observed by [the] family was to respect the wishes of and to take instruction from elders. Another Chinese tradition was to share profits in business between and among family members

[R. 14317 at 5-6 (¶ 1).] Appellant Hwan Lan Chen, a third-party defendant below, is the 76-year old matriarch of the Chen family, who claims by affidavit and answers to interrogatories in the case below to be the principal owner of E. Excel. [R. 9254; 14332, Reply Memo. at Ex. B (Interr. No. 5).] The plaintiff, her daughter, testified in reference to E. Excel:

In the operation of a business, many times in big decisions we will always go to the elder, the parents of the family and ask them. Okay. And also it don't matter whether the elder is a shareholder or not. In profit sharing the elder would have the say.

[R. 14230 at 14.]

Plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen, the President of E. Excel prior to September 1, 2000, commenced the action below in the Fourth Judicial District Court on January 9, 2001 against her sister, defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart, the then-acting President of E. Excel. [R. 24.] The action was brought as a derivative action and, therefore, the plaintiff joined E. Excel as a putative defendant. [R. 97.]

Plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen asserted derivative claims for breach of fiduciary duties, corporate waste, and corporate wrongdoing regarding her sister's attempt to assert shareholder control over E. Excel and take over the management of E. Excel. [R. 24.] Defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart, purporting to vote 100% of the outstanding shares of E. Excel, had acted on September 1, 2000 to remove the plaintiff and the plaintiff's husband, Rui-Kang Zhang, from the E. Excel Board of Directors and replace them with her mother, Hwan Lan Chen, and her husband, Taig Stewart.¹ [R. 14338, Ex. 22.] The new Board had removed the

¹ Ms. Stewart owned 25% of the outstanding shares and voted the remaining 75% of
(continued...)

plaintiff and Mr. Zhang as E. Excel officers and installed defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart as E. Excel's President. [R. 14338, Ex. 23.]

Plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen has never asserted any claim against her mother, Hwan Lan Chen, or been a party to a claim in the case to which her mother was a party. [R. 24.]

The case was assigned to the Honorable Fred D. Howard. Judge Howard commenced a proceeding on plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen's motion for preliminary injunction against defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart and held ten days of evidentiary hearings on the motion between January 19, 2001 and February 20, 2001. [R. 14221-23, 14226; 14228; 14230-35; 14293-94.]

On February 21, 2001, Judge Howard entered a stipulated "Interim Order" in connection with the pending preliminary injunction proceeding. [R. 632 (*see* Addendum, Tab Q).] The Interim Order provided that an "independent, neutral" interim CEO of E. Excel would be appointed, who would be selected by plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen and defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart, or, if they could not agree, by Judge Howard. [R. 631-32 at ¶ 1.] The Interim Order did not provide for the appointment of a special master. It said nothing about a special master. [R. 626-32.] The Interim Order proscribed the intended interim CEO from participating in the case below as an active party litigant by expressly limiting E. Excel to a putative defendant role in a derivative action. [R. 628 at ¶ 9.] The Interim Order removed

¹(...continued)

the outstanding shares, which were owned by plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen's children, on the claim that the children's shares were held in a trust controlled by Ms. Stewart. [R. 14338, Ex. 22.] The trial court ultimately ruled that, although there was evidence of the trust, the children's shares had not been transferred to the trust, such that the trust was dry and Ms. Stewart's vote of their shares was "void ab initio." [R. 7956-57.]

defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart as an officer and employee of E. Excel and changed the E. Excel Board back to plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen, her husband, and Ms. Stewart. [R. 630-31 at ¶¶ 2, 3.]

Pursuant to plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen's request, Judge Howard appointed Larry Holman as Special Master and interim CEO of E. Excel by Order dated March 13, 2001. [R. 704 (*see* Addendum, Tab D); 14274 at 7.] The plaintiff first requested that Mr. Holman serve as Special Master at a March 5, 2001 hearing. [R. 14274 at 7, 21 (*see* Addendum, Tab C).] Plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen made that request and obtained the Special Master's appointment without the stipulation or agreement of defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart, the only party adverse to the plaintiff at that time. [*Id.*; R. 704.]

On May 11, 2001, at the Special Master's request and over objection, Judge Howard entered an Order that authorized the Special Master to exercise the powers of a party litigant and master claims settler. [R. 762 (*see* Addendum, Tab G); 14298 at 2.] He explicitly authorized the Special Master to "direct and control" E. Excel as an active party litigant and conferred on the Special Master the power to settle all of E. Excel's litigation, all without further order of the court. [R. 762.]

On June 1, 2001, at the Special Master's request and over objection, Judge Howard approved the Special Master's decision to enter a "Master Settlement Agreement" with plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen, her husband, and their allies, and authorized the Special Master to execute that Agreement. [R. 2033-32 at ¶¶ 3, 4 (*see* Addendum, Tab I); 14239 at 19-23, 75-82; 14300 at 25 (*see* Addendum, Tab H).] The Master Settlement Agreement settled all litigation between E. Excel and the plaintiff, her husband, and their allies, released them from

all of E. Excel's claims, and restructured E. Excel by divesting its Asian sales – over 90% of its business – to the exclusive benefit of the plaintiff, her husband, and their allies. [R. 14344, Ex. 534 at ¶¶ 3.1, 4.1; 14342, Ex. 280 at 4.]

In June and August 2001, plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen made two motions for civil and criminal contempt against defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart, and Judge Howard commenced a proceeding on the two contempt motions in October 2001. [R. 2074; 14306.]

At the outset of the contempt proceeding, the Special Master, exercising the power of a party litigant, authorized and directed E. Excel to file an Amended Cross-Claim/Third Party Complaint and Motion for Preliminary Injunction against defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart, Hwan Lan Chen, and the other third-party defendants. [R. 3721; 4214 (*see* Addendum, Tabs J, K).] Paragraph 3 of the Amended Third Party Complaint specifically alleges that its filing was at the direction of the Special Master. Paragraph 3 states:

After commencing an investigation of [E. Excel's] finances and operations, Special Master Holman has determined that E. Excel should initiate litigation against the cross-defendant, Jau-Hwa Stewart, and the third party defendants [including Hwan Lan Chen]

[R. 4205 at ¶ 3.]

Hwan Lan Chen was first and only named as a party to the case by the Amended Third Party Complaint. [R. 4204 at ¶ 9.] The Amended Third Party Complaint asserted, *inter alia*, claims for breach of fiduciary duty, unfair competition, usurpation of corporate opportunity, waste, civil conspiracy, conversion, and violation of Utah's Pattern of Unlawful Activity Act ("UPUAA") against Hwan Lan Chen, based on her status as a director of E. Excel between September 1, 2000 and February 21, 2001 and her funding of Apogee, Inc., a company

formed in May 2001 that was intended to compete with E. Excel. [R. 4171-206; 14250 at 39.] The Special Master/E. Excel has told this Court that it seeks approximately \$17 million in damages against Hwan Lan Chen.² [5/21/03 Mtn. to Modify Stay and Require a Bond at 18 n.11.]

On October 31, 2001, Judge Howard, without notice to Hwan Lan Chen, combined the contempt proceeding with the proceeding on the Special Master/E. Excel's Motion for Preliminary Injunction. [R. 14243 at 64.] Judge Howard also incorporated the ten evidentiary hearings that had been held on January 19, 23 and 24, and February 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, 13 and 20, 2001 in connection with plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen's original motion for preliminary injunction, by taking "judicial notice" of those hearings. [R. 14317 at 4 (*see* Addendum, Tab O).] Judge Howard also incorporated the evidentiary hearings that were held on October 25 and 26, 2001 in connection with the plaintiff's contempt motion before he combined the contempt proceeding with the Preliminary Injunction proceeding. [*Id.*] In summary, the evidentiary record ended up consisting of 34 days of evidentiary hearings held on January 19, 23 and 24, 2001, February 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, 13 and 20, 2001, October 25 and 26, 2001, November 27 and 28, 2001, December 10, 11, 12, and 13, 2001, February 21 and 22, 2002, March 13, 15, 18 and 19, 2002, April 17, 2002, May 7, 8, 10 and 31, 2002, and June 4, 5, 7,

² After March 13, 2001, E. Excel was under the direction of the Special Master. [R. 704.] Accordingly, appellee is referred to as "the Special Master/E. Excel," which reflects the express representation of its counsel, Jones Waldo Holbrook & McDonough, in the case below. *See, e.g.*, the Amended Third Party Complaint. [R. 4214 (*see* Addendum, Tab K).]

25 and 26, 2002. [*Id.*] This was the evidentiary record that Judge Howard expressly adopted and cited to in granting the Preliminary Injunction. [*Id.*]

Counsel first appeared in the action below for Hwan Lan Chen on December 17, 2001, after having told Judge Howard on December 12 that he would be appearing for Hwan Lan Chen. [R. 5000; 14248 at 182.] After counsel stated he would be appearing for Hwan Lan Chen but before he actually appeared, the Special Master's counsel told Judge Howard on December 13, 2001 that the Special Master/E. Excel was not seeking "injunctive relief" against Hwan Lan Chen at that time. [R. 14249 at 180-81 (*see* Addendum, Tab L).]

On August 20, 2002, Judge Howard granted the Special Master/E. Excel's Motion for Preliminary Injunction against Hwan Lan Chen based on 110 pages of Preliminary Injunction findings that were adopted virtually verbatim from the Special Master/E. Excel's proposed findings. [R. 14316; 14318.] On the same date, Judge Howard also granted plaintiff Jau-Fei Chen's two contempt motions against defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart and ordered Ms. Stewart's total default on the plaintiff's claims by adopting virtually verbatim 127 pages of Contempt findings proposed by the plaintiff. [R. 14315; 14317.] As requested by the Special Master/E. Excel, the Preliminary Injunction findings entered by Judge Howard adopted and incorporated by reference all of the Contempt findings. [R. 14316 at 90 (¶ 258); 14318 at 89 (¶ 258) (*see* Addendum, Tab N).]

Judge Howard entered the Preliminary Injunction findings against Hwan Lan Chen based on 18 days of evidentiary hearings that were held before she was joined as a party to the case. [R. 5000; 14317 at 4.] Over 50% of the evidence cited in the Preliminary

Injunction and Contempt findings was received during the 18 days of evidentiary hearing that were conducted in the absence of Hwan Lan Chen. [See Addendum, Tab U.]

In July and August 2002, the Special Master orchestrated a freeze-out merger eliminating defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart as a shareholder of E. Excel, over her objection. [R. 14320, Mtn. and Memo. at Ex. 1.] The Special Master proposed the freeze-out merger to E. Excel's Board – which by then was only the plaintiff and her husband – and signed the merger agreement on behalf of both E. Excel and the acquisition company. [R. 14320, Memo. at Ex. 1.]

On October 16, 2002, Judge Howard entered an Order of Preliminary Injunction based on the August 20, 2002 Preliminary Injunction findings. [R. 9145 (*see* Addendum, Tab P).] The Preliminary Injunction, *inter alia*, enjoined Hwan Lan Chen from all competition with E. Excel and from all competition in the entire dietary supplement, herbal, personal care, cosmetic, and hygiene products industries worldwide. [R. 9140 at ¶ 13.]

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