2003

Jau-Fei Chen v. Jau-Hwa Stewart : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

[In her Answer, Hwan Lan Chen said as to ¶ 24 that she was "without knowledge or information necessary to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations and on that basis, denies the same." R. 5585.]

62. Defendant Hwan Lan Chen also claims that she has made a loan of \$3,000,000 to E. Excel. On information and belief, no documentation of such loan has ever been produced and no such loan was ever made. . . . R. 4214.

[In her Answer, Hwan Lan Chen said as to ¶ 62: Third-Party Defendant admits that Defendant Jau-Hwa Stewart's attorney's recommended that she put \$3,000,000 into E. Excel for the purchase of shares of stock and admits these funds were wired to the company for the payment of shares. Third-Party Defendant alleges that she never saw the stock certificates for the shares and understood that the Court ordered that she could not purchase any stock and she was then informed that the \$3,000,000 would be treated as a loan. . . . R. 5585.]

155. Hwan Lan Chen has alleged that she loaned \$3,000,000 to the Company. Upon information and belief, no such loan was ever made and the Company never received such sums from defendant Chen. R. 4214.

[In her Answer, Hwan Lan Chen claimed as to ¶ 155 "that she loaned \$3 million to the company but denies the remaining allegations." R. 5585.]

Her Answer asserted no ownership interest in Excel USA, and made no affirmative claims. R. 5585.

D. DISPOSITION OF ISSUES CONCERNING EXCEL USA'S OWNERSHIP.

The court had unequivocally ruled in denying Ms. Stewart's and Excel USA's Motion to Dismiss for lack of standing, and stated that the actions of Ms. Stewart, purporting to exercise control over the children's stock, were "void ab initio." The court also noted that its ruling was only for the purpose of the standing motion, and so when the court entered the Interim Order of February 21, 2001, the question whether the children's 75% ownership of Excel USA was held in trust was noted as unresolved. R. 633. On April 25, 2002, Dr. Chen filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership, R. 6449, and served by hand delivery the Motion and Memorandum in Support on counsel for Hwan Lan Chen. R. 14336: Ex. N. On May 20, 2002, counsel for Ms. Stewart served by United States mail her Memorandum in Opposition to Chen's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership. R. 6756; R. 14336; Ex. O. On May 31, 2002, Dr. Chen filed her Reply Memorandum in Support of her Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership, R. 6977, and served counsel for Hwan Lan Chen that day by United States mail. R. 14336: Ex. P. (At no time prior to the filing of Dr. Chen's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment or the entry of the trial court's August 12, 2002 Order granting the motion did Madam Chen ever assert an ownership interest in Excel at the time the issue of ownership of the shares was before the Court in an action to which she was a party.) At about this time, Madam Chen

signed Answers to Excel USA's Interrogatories in which she made an oblique reference to ownership in these entities, including Excel USA, but which was contradicted by other Answers in the same set. R. 14336: Ex. L. Madam Chen, in essence, objected to the discovery of any interest she had in Excel USA with any specificity as being simply irrelevant in this action. *Id.*

As a party to the litigation, Madam Chen was on clear notice of the ownership issues. In fact, on June 4, 2002, Hwan Lan Chen signed an Affidavit in Opposition to Dr. Chen's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership. In the Affidavit, Hwan Lan Chen testified:

Hwan Lan Chen, after being first duly sworn, deposes and says as follows:

1. I am a third-party defendant in the above-referenced action and have personal knowledge of the facts stated in this affidavit.
2. Early in 1995, I became increasingly concerned about the distribution of shares of E. Excel International, Inc., which did not include an ownership interest for my daughter, Jau-Hwa Stewart ("Mrs. Stewart").
3. Given Mrs. Stewart's involvement in the corporation, I felt that it was crucial that she be included in the ownership structure of the corporation.
4. On several occasions, I expressed my concern to my daughter, Jau-Fei Chen ("Ms. Chen"), who assured me that she would redistribute her shares of E. Excel International, Inc., in a manner that would include an interest for Mrs. Stewart.
5. Following the issuance of E. Excel Stock certificates, and the implementation of trust agreements in the names of E.E. Zhang, E. Lei Zhang and Chi Wei Zhang, on December 30, 1995, Ms. Chen assured me that Ms. Stewart's interest in the corporation was preserved and that Mrs. Stewart effectively controlled all of the shares formerly held by Ms. Chen.

R. 7126; R. 14336: Ex. Q.

The court scheduled oral argument on Dr. Chen's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership for June 26, 2002. Other matters were heard first. After the other matters had been heard and before the commencement of argument on the stock ownership motion, counsel for Hwan Lan Chen made the following request to the court:

Final thing, then, Your Honor: We've looked over the motions to be argued this afternoon. They don't involve our clients. With Your Honor's permission, Mr. Stewart and I would like to be excused for this afternoon's session.

The Court said:

Any objection, counsel? . . . You're excused, sir.

R. 14276: 78-79. After counsel for Hwan Lan Chen left the courtroom, counsel for Dr. Chen and counsel for Jau-Hwa Stewart argued the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership. R. 14276: 78. Following argument, the Court granted the Motion and instructed Dr. Chen's counsel to prepare the Order. R. 14276: 121-22.

On July 22, 2002, Dr. Chen's attorneys submitted to all counsel, at the Court's request, a proposed Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership. The proposed Order specifically recited a finding that the shareholders and total shares validly issued and outstanding were as follows: Chi Wei Zhang 1,500; E. Lei Zhang 1,500; E. E. Zhang 1,500; Jau-Hwa Stewart 1,500. R. 14336: Ex. S. Hwan Lan Chen did not object to this form of Order.

On August 12, 2002, the Court entered its Order granting Dr. Chen's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment concerning her children's ownership of the stock, as follows:

There are no genuine issues of material fact in connection with plaintiff's Fourth Claim for Relief, and plaintiff is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Based upon the undisputed facts, plaintiff transferred 1,500 shares to each of her three children in their individual names and individual capacities on December 30, 1995. Specifically, the plaintiff's three children--Chi Wei Zhang, E. Lei Zhang, and E. E. Zhang--each own 1,500 shares of the 6,000 total issued and outstanding shares of E. Excel International, Inc. The shareholders and total shares validly issued and outstanding are as follows:

1.	Chi Wei Zhang	1,500 shares
2.	E. Lei Zhang	1,500 shares
3.	E. E. Zhang	1,500 shares
4.	Jau-Hwa Stewart	<u>1,500 shares</u>
Total shares issued and outstanding:		<u>6,000 shares</u>

The shares of stock and the stock certificates were never placed in or delivered to any trust as to which Ms. Stewart served as trustee. Therefore, at no time, including on September 1, 2000, did Ms. Stewart have the right to take action with respect to the title or voting of the three children's shares of stock. Ms. Stewart's conduct with respect to replacing the children's stock certificates and placing them in her name as a trustee is void ab initio.

R. 7954; R. 14336: Ex. T.

On August 25, 2002, Ms. Stewart moved the Court under Rule 60(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, for reconsideration of Dr. Chen's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Regarding Stock Ownership. R. 14326. In support of that Motion, Ms. Stewart advanced the following "facts": "In January 2001, on behalf of Ms. Stewart, Hwan Lan Chen facilitated the transfer of approximately \$3 million to E. Excel International, Inc.,"

R. 14326, even though Excel USA's records reveal no evidence that Hwan Lan Chen or Ms. Stewart put \$3,000,000 into Excel USA. R: 14336: Ex. B, 1 and 2. Hence, up to this time, an affirmative claim of ownership of Excel USA by Madam Chen was not on anyone's radar screen, including Hwan Lan Chen's.

E. HWAN LAN CHEN'S ASSERTION OF OWNERSHIP, ALBEIT UNTIMELY, AS LITIGATION STRATEGY.

After events in the litigation did not go well for Madam Chen, she elected to attempt to change her strategy. After directly participating in litigation where ownership of Excel USA was a central issue, *e.g.* R. 14338: Ex. 22, 23, 29, 30, 32, 34; R. 14336: Ex. C at 3, D at 3, E at 2, F at 4, but also having elected not to intervene, the trial court concluded Madam Chen had played an integral role in the organization, funding, and operation of a criminal enterprise that was engaged in pattern of unlawful activity, R. 14318: 101-06. On October 24, 2002, utilizing new counsel, Hwan Lan Chen filed a Motion to Vacate and Set Aside Judge Howard's Orders through her newly retained counsel. R. 9238.

The motion was predicated in large part on a claim of ownership of Excel USA — a belated attempt to assert ownership herself and a belated attack of the trial court's June 26, 2002 ruling and the August 12, 2002 Order concerning ownership of Excel USA. R. 9238. In connection with this motion, Hwan Lan Chen signed an Affidavit that is written in Chinese, dated October 24, 2002. R. 9239-48. In translation of that Affidavit, Hwan Lan Chen asserted:

2. . . . My daughters Jau-Fei Chen and Jau-Hwa Stewart always told us we were the owners of E. Excel [sic] USA and based upon our investments and the statements of my daughters, my husband and I were and I, as my husband's sole heir, am the principal owner of E. Excel. . . .

7. In 2001, I personally advanced \$3,000,000 to E. Excel USA. I advanced this \$3,000,000 with the belief that I was the principal owner of E. Excel USA. I understand that E. Excel USA has taken the position that this \$3,000,000 was an investment in E. Excel USA. . . .

16. My husband and I reposed trust and confidence in both our daughters Jau-Fei Chen and Jau-Hwa Stewart and relied upon each of them to properly conduct the operations of E. Excel USA and to manage and protect our ownership and investments in E. Excel USA.

17. My husband and I were the principal owners of E. Excel USA as acknowledged by our daughters. Prior to the lawsuit between Jau-Fei Chen and Jau-Hwa Stewart, neither Jau-Fei Chen or [sic] Jau-Hwa Stewart ever denied that my husband and I were the principal owners of E. Excel USA.

18. At the time that Jau-Hwa Stewart returned to Utah to assist at E. Excel USA, my husband and I had conversations with both Jau-Fei Chen and Jau-Hwa Stewart concerning their participation in the profits of E. Excel USA should E. Excel USA experience profits. As a result of these discussions, my husband and I agreed that Jau-Fei Chen and Jau-Hwa Stewart should each have 25% of the profits of E. Excel USA, with my husband and I owning 50% of the profits of E. Excel USA, but retaining the dominant ownership in E. Excel USA.

19. After my husband's death in December, 1995, Jau-Fei Chen and Jau-Hwa Stewart repeatedly acknowledged to me that I was the principal owner of E. Excel USA, including 50% of the profits of E. Excel USA. To the best of my knowledge, neither Jau-Fei Chen or [sic] Jau-Hwa Stewart hav [sic] ever denied that I was the owner of E. Excel USA, including 50% of the profits of E. Excel USA.

R. 9249-53.

F. THE TRIAL COURT’S RULING ON MADAM CHEN’S STANDING AND DUE PROCESS CLAIM.

On November 8, 2002, Dr. Chen filed a Motion to Strike Claims of Hwan Lan Chen for Lack of Standing, based upon her lack of ownership in Excel USA, and hence her inability to assert a “distinct and palpable” injury to her. R. 14336; R. 10275. In its January 24, 2003 Ruling denying the Motion to Vacate, the trial court provided:

Madame Chen has failed to dispute [any of] the [68] ownership fact[] [paragraphs] set forth in Plaintiff’s Motion [to Strike], and there is no dispute over the ownership interests of E. Excel as heretofore determined by the Court. The Court is unpersuaded that Chinese customs of the parties in some manner govern the legal ownership interests of the parties. Further, the Court notes that *it is only after the entry of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that Madame Chen has asserted that she played an integral role in the organization, funding and operation of E. Excel. This tardy assertion is contrary to the evidence presented during the litigation* and set forth in the Court’s Findings and Conclusions and the Court’s subsequent decision on the subject. *The Court has heretofore determined the ownership interests of E. Excel which do not include any ownership by Madame Chen.* Based upon the evidence presented, this Court has concluded that the actual stock ownership in E. Excel is vested in the three minor children of Plaintiff, Chi Wei Zhang, E. Lei Zhang and E. E. Zhang with each owning a combined total 75% of the shares, or 25% individually, and Defendant Mrs. Stewart, holding the remaining 25% shares. Further, Madame Chen has failed to file compulsory or *affirmative* claims to assert her ownership in E. Excel, but makes such claims solely under her Motion. She has failed to point to a single benefit derived from her claimed interest, and failed to provide proof of a single dividend or distribution passed to her by E. Excel. This Court is unpersuaded with Madame Chen’s Motion claim that by the alleged \$3 million transfer she acquired ownership in E. Excel, noting that she conceded in her Answer that the \$3 million transfer was a loan. The Court concludes that Madame Chen has at best asserted only equitable ownership claims in E. Excel by her Motion to Vacate and Set Aside, and that the subject has been adjudicated.

Plaintiffs also asserts that Madame Chen’s due process claims must fail because she was alerted of all case issues from the outset from the co-conspirator, Defendant Stewart, who lives in the same house as Madame Chen. She therefore had actual notice of the Court proceeding which nullified any claim that she was entitled to legal notice. The Court is persuaded by this argument which is

supported by the record and the Court's Findings of Fact. Madame Chen has had notice from the inception of the litigation through her daughter Jau-Hwa Stewart. Further, Madame Chen has no actual legal ownership interest in E. Excel which would require separate, formal notice to her. The Court concludes that Madame Chen's due process rights have not been violated.

R. 12755-57 (emphasis supplied).

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Madam Chen has never been an owner of Excel USA. The trial court properly concluded that Madam Chen lacked standing to assert claims in her Motion to Vacate because she had no ownership interest in Excel USA. In support of the claim that Madam Chen was a "principal" owner of Excel USA, Appellants offer only sparse, self-serving information most of which was not even submitted to the court until considerably after the issue of Excel USA's ownership had been adjudicated. Perhaps because of the contrast to the lack of evidence to support their claim, appellants failed to marshal the extensive, compelling and overwhelming evidence which unequivocally establishes that Madam Chen was never an owner of Excel USA and so lacked standing to assert claims in her Motion to Vacate. For the same reason, Madam Chen's claim that she was entitled to separate notice of matters in litigation that affected ownership interests in Excel USA fails.

Even while Madam Chen was a party to these proceedings, and had full knowledge of the issues in the litigation—including the filing and argument of Dr. Chen's dispositive motion concerning Excel USA's ownership, she raised no assertion of ownership interest by timely motion, claim or pleading. Through her words and conduct, she has admitted

that she has no ownership interest. Her actions contradict any claim of ownership. Relief she now seeks is untimely. She is barred from obtaining the relief under the doctrines of waiver, equitable estoppel and laches.

Finally, the Motion to Vacate is predicated in large part upon an ownership interest in Excel USA. The trial court adjudicated the ownership issues on June 26, 2002, in open court after Madam Chen's attorney chose to be excused from that proceeding because the matter did not "involve" his clients. The trial court entered the Order granting Dr. Chen's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on August 12, 2002. Appellants' Petitions for Interlocutory Appeal, which constitute an attack of that Order, were not filed within the 20 days required by Rule 5, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. MADAM CHEN LACKS STANDING TO ASSERT CLAIMS BASED UPON HAVING AN OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN EXCEL USA.

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